

Typical Format for Documenting Commercial-Grade Item Dedication Technical Evaluations

2015 TECHNICAL REPORT

Typical Format for Documenting Commercial-Grade Item Dedication Technical Evaluations

3002006066

Final Report, August 2015

EPRI Project Manager M. Tannenbaum



ELECTRIC POWER RESEARCH INSTITUTE 3420 Hillview Avenue, Palo Alto, California 94304-1338 • PO Box 10412, Palo Alto, California 94303-0813 • USA 800.313.3774 • 650.855.2121 • askepri@epri.com • www.epri.com

DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTIES AND LIMITATION OF LIABILITIES

THIS DOCUMENT WAS PREPARED BY THE ORGANIZATIONS NAMED BELOW AS AN ACCOUNT OF WORK SPONSORED OR COSPONSORED BY THE ELECTRIC POWER RESEARCH INSTITUTE, INC. (EPRI). NEITHER EPRI, ANY MEMBER OF EPRI, ANY COSPONSOR, THE ORGANIZATIONS BELOW, NOR ANY PERSON ACTING ON BEHALF OF ANY OF THEM:

(A) MAKES ANY WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION WHATSOEVER, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, (I) WITH RESPECT TO THE USE OF ANY INFORMATION, APPARATUS, METHOD, PROCESS, OR SIMILAR ITEM DISCLOSED IN THIS DOCUMENT, INCLUDING MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, OR (II) THAT SUCH USE DOES NOT INFRINGE ON OR INTERFERE WITH PRIVATELY OWNED RIGHTS, INCLUDING ANY PARTY'S INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY, OR (III) THAT THIS DOCUMENT IS SUITABLE TO ANY PARTICULAR USER'S CIRCUMSTANCE; OR

(B) ASSUMES RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES OR OTHER LIABILITY WHATSOEVER (INCLUDING ANY CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, EVEN IF EPRI OR ANY EPRI REPRESENTATIVE HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES) RESULTING FROM YOUR SELECTION OR USE OF THIS DOCUMENT OR ANY INFORMATION, APPARATUS, METHOD, PROCESS, OR SIMILAR ITEM DISCLOSED IN THIS DOCUMENT.

REFERENCE HEREIN TO ANY SPECIFIC COMMERCIAL PRODUCT, PROCESS, OR SERVICE BY ITS TRADE NAME, TRADEMARK, MANUFACTURER, OR OTHERWISE, DOES NOT NECESSARILY CONSTITUTE OR IMPLY ITS ENDORSEMENT, RECOMMENDATION, OR FAVORING BY EPRI.

THE ELECTRIC POWER RESEARCH INSTITUTE (EPRI) PREPARED THIS REPORT.

THE TECHNICAL CONTENTS OF THIS PRODUCT WERE **NOT** PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE EPRI QUALITY PROGRAM MANUAL THAT FULFILLS THE REQUIREMENTS OF 10 CFR 50, APPENDIX B. THIS PRODUCT IS **NOT** SUBJECT TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF 10 CFR PART 21.

NOTE

For further information about EPRI, call the EPRI Customer Assistance Center at 800.313.3774 or e-mail askepri@epri.com.

Electric Power Research Institute, EPRI, and TOGETHER...SHAPING THE FUTURE OF ELECTRICITY are registered service marks of the Electric Power Research Institute, Inc.

Copyright © 2015 Electric Power Research Institute, Inc. All rights reserved.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI) prepared this report.

Principal Investigator M. Tannenbaum

This report describes research sponsored by EPRI.

This publication is a corporate document that should be cited in the literature in the following manner:

Typical Format for Documenting Commercial-Grade Item Dedication Technical Evaluations. EPRI, Palo Alto, CA: 2015. 3002006066.

ABSTRACT

This product includes an automated form and a simple Microsoft Word form that can be used to document the technical evaluation used to dedicate commercial-grade items for use in safety-related applications. The automated form includes features such as pull-down lists and can be saved as a document template.

The forms are designed to be used in conjunction with Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI) report 3002002982, *Guideline for the Acceptance of Commercial-Grade Items in Nuclear Safety-Related Applications: Revision 1 to EPRI NP-5652 and TR-102260.*

Keywords

Commercial grade Dedication Forms Procurement engineering Technical evaluation

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The forms embedded in this report are intended to provide one example of a basic format for documenting commercial-grade item technical evaluations that can be customized by dedicating entities. These forms do not include provisions for other aspects of a complete technical evaluation—a safety classification, equivalency evaluation, and so forth. More information on the technical evaluation of replacement items can be found in Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI) report 1008256, *Guidelines for the Technical Evaluation of Replacement Items in Nuclear Power Plants (Revision 1)*.

The forms can also be used to identify potential gaps or weaknesses in existing methods of documenting commercial-grade item dedication technical evaluations by comparing the information requested in the forms to information in existing commercial-grade dedication forms or databases.

Basic instructions for completing the form are included in Section 2 of the report. Where applicable, the form refers to sections of EPRI report 3002002982, *Guideline for the Acceptance of Commercial-Grade Items in Nuclear Safety-Related Applications: Revision 1 to EPRI NP-5652 and TR-102260*, that include additional information.

CONTENTS

1 INTRO	DDUCTION	1-1
1.1	Objective	1-1
1.2	Applicability of Guidance	1-1
1.3	Contents of This Report	1-1
2 INSTR DEDICA	RUCTIONS FOR COMPLETING TYPICAL COMMERCIAL-GRADE ITEM	2-1
2.1	Section A, Item Description	2-1
2.2	Section B, End Use/Parent/Host Equipment Information	2-1
2.3	Section C, Bounded Scope of Use	2-2
2.4	Section D, Item Information	2-3
2.5	Section E, Eligibility for Dedication	2-3
2.6	Section F, Failure Modes/Mechanisms and Effects Analysis	2-4
2.7	Section G, Operating Experience/Historical Performance Information	2-4
2.8	Section H, Identification Attributes	2-4
2.9	Section I, Critical Characteristics	2-4
2.10	Section J, References	2-5
2.11	Section K, Review and Approval	2-5
3 ATTA	CHED EVALUATION FORMS	3-1
3.1	Simple Version of Typical Commercial-Grade Evaluation Forms	3-1
3.2	Automated Version of Typical Commercial-Grade Evaluation Forms	3-1
3.3	Typical Commercial-Grade Dedication Review Checklist	3-1
4 REFE	RENCES	4-1

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	1-1 F	Renart (Contents	1_	2
Iguie	1-11	veport v	Contents	 1-	~

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Objective

In September 2014, the Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI) published *Guideline for the Acceptance of Commercial-Grade Items in Nuclear Safety-Related Applications: Revision 1 to EPRI NP-5652 and TR-102260* (3002002982) [1]. 3002002982 include examples of typical commercial-grade dedication forms.

In response to requests received from users of 3002002982, this report provides the means to access typical dedication forms and an associated independent reviewer checklist in a Microsoft Word format.

1.2 Applicability of Guidance

The forms included in this report are applicable to any dedicating entity. However, the forms and reviewer checklist are intended to be an example of tools that can be used to promote complete and consistent documentation of the technical evaluation used to dedicate commercial-grade items.

There is no single or standard format for documenting a technical evaluation for commercialgrade item dedication. It is acceptable for different organizations to document technical evaluations in different ways, and the format may vary depending on the type of organization. In some cases, the various elements of a commercial-grade item technical evaluation may not be included in the same document.

However, the forms in this report are intended to provide one example of a basic format, which can be customized by dedicating entities, for documenting technical evaluations for commercial-grade items. These forms do not include provisions for other aspects of a complete technical evaluation—a safety classification, equivalency evaluation, and so forth. More information on the technical evaluation of replacement items can be found in EPRI 1008256 [2].

Where applicable, the form refers to sections of EPRI's *Guideline for the Acceptance of Commercial-Grade Items in Nuclear Safety-Related Applications: Revision 1 to EPRI NP-5652 and TR-102260* [1] that include additional information.

1.3 Contents of This Report

The contents of this report are depicted in Figure 1-1.

Introduction



Figure 1-1 Report Contents

Section 2 includes a set of basic instructions for completing the forms included in Section 2.

Section 3 lists documents that can be used to download and save:

- A simple version of the form in a Microsoft Word document
- An automated version of the form in a Microsoft Word document template
- A commercial-grade dedication review checklist that can be used by independent technical reviewers

Section 4 contains the references that are used in this report.

2 INSTRUCTIONS FOR COMPLETING TYPICAL COMMERCIAL-GRADE ITEM DEDICATION FORMS

2.1 Section A, Item Description

The information to include in each of the data fields of Section A of the commercial-grade item dedication form is as follows:

- **Evaluation number and revision**. Enter the internal tracking number and revision level (as applicable) used to identify the evaluation.
- **Inventory control number**. Provide the unique code used to identify the item in the inventory management system (for example, stock code, catalog identifier, material number, and stock-keeping unit).
- Noun identifier. Specify the name of the item, typically presented in a noun-adjectiveadditional-information format; for example, "pipe, carbon steel, Schedule 80, 4-in. (100.8-mm) diameter, 20-ft (6.1-m) long."
- Manufacturer name. Enter the name of the entity that manufactures the item.
- **Manufacturer model/part/catalog number(s)**. Provide a product identifier, such as the manufacturer's or supplier's assigned identifier for an item. The part number (as referred to in this report) can also include identifiers such as model number, material type, grade, or catalog reference number.

2.2 Section B, End Use/Parent/Host Equipment Information

Either Section B or Section C of the form should be completed for a commercial-grade item dedication technical evaluation. Section B is provided to capture information about the end use, parent, or host equipment. Section B would typically be used when the dedicating entity knows the parent/host equipment and end uses for the item being dedicated or when the dedicating entity has a design document or other information that clearly defines the intended scope of use. An example might be dedicating an item to meet the requirements of a plant design specification.

Recognizing that dedicating entities do not always have information about the specific end-use application of products they dedicate, the standard form also provides Section C to capture a bounded scope of use on which a dedication may be based. Section C would typically be used when the dedicating entity wants to have safety-related items available for use but does not have information about the specific end-use applications or does not have access to design documents or other information that clearly define all of the possible uses for the safety-related items. An

example might be dedicating an item based on all applicable design requirements and uses for the item. Such items might include discrete electronic devices, such as capacitors or resistors. Section C might also be used when dedication is being used to establish and document that an item meets all the requirements of an industry standard.

The information to include in each of the data fields of Section B of the form is as follows:

- Equipment ID (tag) numbers or description of item usage. Identify the host equipment (for example, the tag number(s)) for which the item is intended. When the item is used in numerous applications, such as a commodity item, describe the intended end-use applications. For example, "This cap screw is used in accordance with piping specifications ABC and XYZ as a pressure-retaining bolting component in safety-related piping system flanged connections."
- Parent component/host description. Briefly describe the parent/host components/systems.
- **Functional safety class of component/host**. Identify the component/host as safety-related or non-safety-related. If the component/host is non-safety-related, the item does not require dedication, and the dedication process does not apply. If the component/host is safety-related, continue with the commercial-grade item dedication technical evaluation.
- **Basis/source**. List the basis or source of the component/host safety classification. Typical sources might include previous safety classification evaluations; system descriptions; equipment lists; quality assurance level lists (Q-lists); critical structures, systems, and components (CSSC) lists; and so forth.
- Identification of parent component/host equipment functions. Provide information on the actual functions of the component within the system in which it is installed. Information should include functional requirements during normal operations as well as during and following a design basis accident. For each basic safety function (basic safety functions are listed in Table 5-3 of 3002002982) [1], include the functional mode (active or passive) and a brief description as required. For example, a relay could have both a passive safety function (maintaining 1E circuit integrity) and an active safety function (closing to prevent damage to the 1E circuit). Both safety functional classifications would be listed.
- **Parent component/host equipment is (check all that apply)**. This section further defines the technical requirements of the parent component.

2.3 Section C, Bounded Scope of Use

Note: This section is used only when the specific end use of the item is unknown.

Bounding the scope requires clearly defining the postulated safety functions on which the commercial-grade item dedication technical evaluation and acceptance plan are based.

The dedicating entity may decide to dedicate the item based on all applicable design criteria and establish in the dedication that the item meets all design requirements and is thereby capable of performing any function in any application.

The information to include in each of the data fields of Section C of the form is as follows:

- Is the parent/host a commodity or standard item designed and constructed in accordance with an industry standard? If the answer is "yes," list all of the known industry standards that apply.
- List functions and/or applications considered when completing this evaluation. This information provides the basis for bounding the scope for which this evaluation can be used. The evaluation can be used only for those functions and applications considered, documented, and evaluated in this technical evaluation.
- Equipment qualification considerations/limitations (check all that apply). This section further defines the technical requirements of the parent component.

2.4 Section D, Item Information

The information to include in each of the data fields of Section D of the form is as follows:

- **Item description**. Describe the item being evaluated for purchase/acceptance. (It could be the parent component, a specific piece-part of the parent component, or a commodity item.)
- **Functional safety class of the item**. Identify the item as safety-related or non-safety-related. If the item is non-safety-related, the item does not require dedication; document the basis/source of the determination (see the following), and exit this process. If the item is safety-related, document the basis/source of the determination (see the following), and continue with the technical evaluation.
- **Basis/source**. The basis or source of the item's safety classification is to be listed here. **Note**: If the functional classification of the item is non-safety-related, exit this process, and procure the item as non-safety-related.
- Identification of item functions. Provide information on the actual safety functions of the item within the component and the system in which it is installed. Information should include functional requirements during normal operations as well as during and following a design basis accident. For each basic safety function (basic safety functions are listed in Table 5-3 of 3002002982) [1], include the functional mode (active or passive) and a brief description as required. For example, a relay could have both a passive safety function (maintaining 1E circuit integrity) and an active safety function (closing to prevent damage to the 1E circuit). Both safety functional modes would be listed in this section.
- Item is (check all that apply). This section further defines the technical requirements of the item.

2.5 Section E, Eligibility for Dedication

Does the item meet the applicable regulatory definition of a commercial-grade item? Answer "yes" or "no." If the answer is no, this item cannot be dedicated.

Instructions for Completing Typical Commercial-Grade Item Dedication Forms

2.6 Section F, Failure Modes/Mechanisms and Effects Analysis

The information to include in each of the data fields of Section F is as follows:

- **Credible failure mode/mechanism**. The credible failure modes/mechanisms associated with the safety functions of the item in its operating environment are considered in the selection of critical characteristics. Note that there may be more than one failure mode/mechanism. Select all that apply from the list included in Table 5-4 on page 5-4 of EPRI 3002002982 [1]; also, consider the information contained in Section 3.3 of EPRI report 1008256 [2].
- **Effects on the system/component function**. The effects of each credible failure mode/mechanism of the item on its safety functions are considered in the selection of critical characteristics. For each credible failure mode/mechanism previously listed, document its effect on the safety functions of the item in its operating environment (for both normal and postulated accidents).
- **Basis for selection of credible failure modes/mechanisms**. Document a basis statement for the selection of each credible failure mode/mechanism. If a failure modes and effects analysis is not performed, a basis should be provided.

2.7 Section G, Operating Experience/Historical Performance Information

Document the operating experience reviewed to identify information about the quality of the item. Examples of operating experience sources of information can be internal and external and may include corrective action programs, industry databases, customer feedback, generic regulatory communications, and so forth.

2.8 Section H, Identification Attributes

Verification of identification attributes, such as those identified in Table 6-1 of 3002002982 [1], provides preliminary assurance that the item received is correct. In addition, changes in identifiers, such as the part and model number, often provide an indication of a design change and prompt further evaluation to determine if physical changes to the item affect its ability to perform its intended safety functions. Document appropriate identification attributes, a description of the inspection to be performed, and the acceptance criteria for each identification attribute listed.

2.9 Section I, Critical Characteristics

Document the appropriate physical (see Table 6-2 of 3002002982) [1] and performance (see Table 6-3 of 3002002982) [1] characteristics. For digital equipment, dependability characteristics (see Table 6-4 of 3002002982) [1] should also be considered.

Document the acceptance method (or group of acceptance methods) selected to verify each critical characteristic (the acceptance methods are listed in Table 5-2 of 3002002982) [1]. Provide a description of the acceptance activity and the acceptance criteria that must be met.

Include a description of the inspection or test, the type of test equipment (as appropriate), and the sampling plan (as applicable). Typical sampling plan options are 100%, normal (nondestructive), normal (destructive), reduced (nondestructive), reduced (destructive), tightened (nondestructive), and tightened (destructive). See EPRI report TR-017218-R1 [3] for information on selection of sampling plans.

The information to include in the data fields of Section I of the form is as follows:

- **Description of sampling plan**. Provide additional information as necessary to describe the sampling plan.
- Safety functions supported/basis for selection of critical characteristics/acceptance criteria. Describe how verification of the critical characteristics selected will provide reasonable assurance that the item will be capable of performing its safety functions. The basis should include considerations for maintaining seismic and environmental qualifications when applicable.
- **Basis for selection of sampling plans**. When sampling is used, document the sampling plan selected for each critical characteristic and the basis/factors considered when selecting the sampling plan.

2.10 Section J, References

List reference documents/sources used in the development of the commercial-grade item dedication technical evaluation.

2.11 Section K, Review and Approval

Review and approval should be performed and documented in accordance with the dedicating entity's procedures.

3 ATTACHED EVALUATION FORMS

Microsoft Word versions of commercial-grade technical evaluation forms are attached in this document. The Word files can be printed separately.

See the attached Word documents:

- 3.1 Simple Version of Typical Commercial-Grade Evaluation Forms
- 3.2 Automated Version of Typical Commercial-Grade Evaluation Forms
- 3.3 Typical Commercial-Grade Dedication Review Checklist

4 REFERENCES

- 1. Guideline for the Utilization of Commercial Grade Items in Nuclear Safety Related Applications: Revision 1 to EPRI NP-5652 and TR-102260(NCIG-07). EPRI, Palo Alto, CA: 2014. 3002002982.
- 2. Guidelines for the Technical Evaluation of Replacement Items in Nuclear Power Plants (Revision 1). EPRI, Palo Alto, CA: 2006. 1008256.
- 3. *Guideline for Sampling in the Commercial-Grade Item Acceptance Process*. EPRI, Palo Alto, CA: 1999. TR-017218-R1.

Export Control Restrictions

Access to and use of EPRI Intellectual Property is granted with the specific understanding and requirement that responsibility for ensuring full compliance with all applicable U.S. and foreign export laws and regulations is being undertaken by you and your company. This includes an obligation to ensure that any individual receiving access hereunder who is not a U.S. citizen or permanent U.S. resident is permitted access under applicable U.S. and foreign export laws and regulations. In the event you are uncertain whether you or your company may lawfully obtain access to this EPRI Intellectual Property, you acknowledge that it is your obligation to consult with your company's legal counsel to determine whether this access is lawful. Although EPRI may make available on a case-by-case basis an informal assessment of the applicable U.S. export classification for specific EPRI Intellectual Property, you and your company acknowledge that this assessment is solely for informational purposes and not for reliance purposes. You and your company acknowledge that it is still the obligation of you and your company to make your own assessment of the applicable U.S. export classification and ensure compliance accordingly. You and your company understand and acknowledge your obligations to make a prompt report to EPRI and the appropriate authorities regarding any access to or use of EPRI Intellectual Property hereunder that may be in violation of applicable U.S. or foreign export laws or regulations.

The Electric Power Research Institute Inc., (EPRI, www.epri.com) conducts research and development relating to the generation, delivery and use of electricity for the benefit of the public. An independent, nonprofit organization, EPRI brings together its scientists and engineers as well as experts from academia and industry to help address challenges in electricity, including reliability, efficiency, affordability, health, safety and the environment. EPRI also provides technology, policy and economic analyses to drive long-range research and development planning, and supports research in emerging technologies. EPRI's members represent approximately 90 percent of the electricity generated and delivered in the United States, and international participation extends to more than 30 countries. EPRI's principal offices and laboratories are located in Palo Alto, Calif.; Charlotte, N.C.; Knoxville, Tenn.; and Lenox, Mass.

Together...Shaping the Future of Electricity

Program:

Nuclear Power Plant Engineering

© 2015 Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI), Inc. All rights reserved. Electric Power Research Institute, EPRI, and TOGETHER...SHAPING THE FUTURE OF ELECTRICITY are registered service marks of the Electric Power Research Institute, Inc.

3002006066